Case No. S226753

SEP 2 2 2015

## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC (8.25(b)

CALIFORNIA BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION, a California nonprofit corporation,

Petitioner,

VS.

### STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD, et al.,

Respondents.

#### PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF

After a Decision by the First Appellate District, Division Two Court of Appeal Case No. A137680

On Appeal from the Superior Court, City & County of San Francisco Superior Court Case No. CGC-11-516510 Honorable Curtis E.A. Karnow, Judge Presiding

RUTAN & TUCKER, LLP
David P. Lanferman (SBN 71593)
Five Palo Alto Square
3000 El Camino Real, Suite 200

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The Petition in this case presents the following issues for review:

- 1. Can a governmental agency lawfully establish purported "fees" by combining the total costs of all of its services provided to different classes of permittees for different types of programs and then "allocating" its total costs by creating different charges at different rates on distinct classes of permittees which are admittedly not based on evidence of the agency's costs of providing services to the various classes of fee payors?
- 2. When the Board admits, or its evidence shows, that its fees <u>fail</u> to fairly apportion the Board's costs "so that charges allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on or benefits from the regulatory activity," are the purported "fees" in reality "taxes?"
- 3. Following the voters' approval of Proposition 26, does the government agency have the initial burden of producing evidence to demonstrate the validity of its purported fees?
- 4. Does Water Code section 183, which requires that "... any final action of the board be taken by a majority of all the members of the board," apply to the respondent State Water Resources Control Board ("Board") and its adoption of the "schedule of fees" mandated by Water Code section 13260?
- 5. Was the Board's "schedule of fees" lawfully adopted by the votes of only two (2) members of the five-member Board?

#### INTRODUCTION

When governmental agencies seek to impose "regulatory fees," this Court has long mandated that the government must demonstrate that the purported "fees" do not exceed "the costs of the service or regulatory activity for which they are imposed" and must show that the fees fairly allocate the agency's costs of the regulatory activity for which the fees are charged "proportionally" among fee payors. (E.g., California Farm Bureau Fed'n. v. State Water Resources Control Board (2011) 51 Cal.4th 421, 428, 435-443; Pennell v. City of San Jose (1986) 42 Cal.3d 365, 374-75; County of Plumas v. Wheeler (1906) 149 Cal. 758, 763.)

The Court of Appeal's majority Opinion erroneously approved the respondent Board's disregard of these requirements, and sanctioned the Board's admitted failure to comply with the constitutional and statutory requirements governing the Board's Storm Water permit fees challenged in this action. The Court of Appeal misread and failed to properly apply the actual holding of this Court in California Farm Bureau Fed'n. v. State Water Resources Control Board (2011) 51 Cal.4th 421, at 441 ["Farm Bureau"], where this Court explained: "the question [of the validity of the Board's fees] revolves around the scope and the cost of the ... regulatory activity and the relationship between those costs and the fees imposed." (Emph. added.) Here, however, the Board admitted that it had not produced any evidence to demonstrate that the challenged "schedule of fees" would be reasonably

related and limited to the scope and cost of the distinct regulatory activities for which the various fees are imposed, or "fairly apportioned" among fee payors.

The decision below also erred by reversing the parties' respective burdens of proof regardinging the challenged validity of the Board's Storm Water permit fees. Even before the enactment of Proposition 26 in 2010, this Court had repeatedly held that the initial burden of producing evidence to justify purported regulatory fees was properly placed on the government. (Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 437-38; Sinclair Paint Co. v. Board of Equalization (1997) 15 Cal.4th 866, 878 ["Sinclair Paint"]: "the government should prove (1) the estimated costs of the service or regulatory activity, and (2) ... that the charges allocated to a payor bears a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burden on or benefits from the regulatory activity." [emph. added].) Since this case arose a year after the passage of Proposition 26, which clearly placed the entire burden of proof to demonstrate the validity of its fees on the Board (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3 (d)), the appellate court decision is in error.

The majority Opinion also erred by holding that the Board could "transact business" with a mere "majority of a quorum," under Water Code § 181, rather than by applying § 183 (any "final action" of the Board can only be taken by a majority of all the members of the Board.)

The appellate decision must be reversed.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. The Constitutional Context.

This case challenges the way the respondent Board established and subsequently sought to defend a "schedule of fees" imposed, ostensibly, to cover the costs of the Board's various regulatory activities. Even though the Board essentially conceded that the disputed fees established for Storm Water permit applicants were substantially in excess of the Board's costs for its Storm Water regulatory program, the Court of Appeal found nothing wrong with the Board's fees. It did so, largely, as a result of its erroneous inversion of the burden of proof, and by its improvisation of a new, "anything goes," theory for justifying purported fees. The majority Opinion by the Court of Appeal thus clearly fails to require the Board to comply with the requirements set by the voters in the Constitution, by the Legislature in the Water Code, and by this Court in a series of decisions making clear the burdens on governmental agencies when they seek to raise revenues by way of purported "fees" rather than by "taxes."

Following a series of voter initiatives (and decisions by this Court), state and local governments are now clearly required to comply with constitutional and statutory mandates before establishing or imposing "taxes," as well as similar revenue-generating charges, often disguised as "fees" or assessments. California's voters have amended their Constitution (1) to intensify the standards of judicial review to be applied when taxes or

fees are challenged, (2) to define and distinguish "fees" from "taxes" (3) to dispel any outdated notions of "deference" to poorly-justified fees, and (4) to clearly place evidentiary burdens on the government when enacting fees and when attempting to defend purported "fees" when they are challenged in court. (See, e.g., Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th 421; Silicon Valley Taxpayers Ass'n v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 442-49 ("Silicon Valley"); Apartment Assn. of Los Angeles County v. City of Los Angeles (2001) 24 Cal.4th 830, 836-37 ("Apartment Assn"); Capistrano Taxpayers Ass'n. v. City of San Juan Capistrano (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1493 ("Capitstrano Taxpayers"); Lee Schmeer, et al., v. County of Los Angeles (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1326 ("Schmeer").)

The most recent initiative in this series, Proposition 26, was approved by the voters in 2010, for the avowed purpose of halting the "phenomenon whereby the Legislature . . . disguise[s] new taxes as 'fees' in order to extract even more revenue from California taxpayers without having to abide by the [] constitutional voting requirements." (See Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 2, 2010) text of Prop. 26, § 1(c) and (e), p. 114; see also *Schmeer*, v. *County of Los Angeles, supra*, 213 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1326.) Proposition 26 amended the California Constitution to expressly define the term "tax" for purposes of requiring compliance with its constitutional limitations on the imposition of new or increased governmental revenue measures (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, §3(b).) It also limited the types of charges that can be imposed

as valid "regulatory fees" as distinct from "taxes" and mandated that in order to qualify as a "fee," the government must show that the amount of the fee "is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity" for which it is charged (Cal. Const., art. Xlll A, § 3(c).)

Significantly for this case, Proposition 26 also expressly placed <u>the burden of proof</u> on the State and its agencies (such as the Board):

"The State bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity, and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bears a fair and reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity." (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3(d).)

The majority Opinion by the Court of Appeal incorrectly relied on pre-Proposition 26 case law, failed to apply the *expanded* definition of a "tax" and "tax increase" required by Proposition 26, erroneously "deferred" to the actions of the Board (more accurately, the actions of a mere <u>minority</u> of the Board membership), and erroneously imposed the burden of proof on the petitioner to demonstrate the invalidity of the challenged "storm water fees," in disregard of Proposition 26.

The Board did not even attempt to comply with these requirements.

### B. <u>Statutory Context: The Water Code Governs and Limits</u> the Board's Establishment of Purported Fees.

The California Water Code establishes a five-member Board, the particular composition of which is specified in some detail. Water Code section 175 et seq. Water Code section 183 requires that "any final action of the board shall be taken by a majority of all the members of the board."

The Water Code authorizes and requires the Board to adopt a "schedule of fees" ["fees" in the plural] to fund the distinct water quality and waste discharge regulatory programs for which the Board is responsible. (§ 13260.)¹ As explained by the Board's own documentation in the record,² for the past several years the Board has maintained eight (8) distinct waste discharge regulatory programs under the authority of Section 13260, each of which is funded (at least in part) by distinct fees included in that "schedule of fees" under Section 13260, which are charged to discrete groups of permit applicants and fee payers for different types of waste discharge permits. (JA 0232, Staff Report for Board Meeting, September 19, 2011, and "Table 1" at JA 0233.)

One of the Board's eight waste discharge regulatory programs is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unless otherwise indicated, statutory references are to the Water Code.

The "record" in this action consists of the parties "Joint Appendix on Appeal ["JA"], which includes a stipulated set of "joint exhibits" and "relevant excerpts of the administrative record," replacing the original set of exhibits and administrative record excerpts that were lodged with, but misplaced by, the Superior Court. (Stipulation, JA 0131 - 0527.)

commonly referred to as the "Storm Water Program." (Ibid.)

Section 13260(d)(2)(B) expressly requires the Board to account for its Storm Water fee separately from its other fees.

The Legislature has carefully specified in these Water Code sections how the Board is to determine the various fees in that "schedule of fees," the factors to be considered, the limitations on the Board's authority to establish the fee schedules, and the Board's duty to annually adjust its schedule of fees to reflect specified changes in the costs and revenues of the Board's programs, as well as any prior over-collections of fees.

Section 13260(d)(1)(B) requires the Board to establish fees which are equal to, but which do not exceed, the amounts necessary to cover the Board's "recoverable costs" incurred in connection with the Board's various waste discharge regulatory programs, including its Storm Water discharge program. Such "recoverable costs" are specifically defined in Section 13260(d)(1)(C)).

Section 13260(f)(1) also requires the Board "to automatically adjust the fees each fiscal year to conform to the revenue levels set forth in the Budget Act" and further to annually adjust the fees "to compensate for" the over-collection of excess fees in previous years. (JA 0232.)

The record clearly showed that the Board failed to comply with these statutory requirements in setting the challenged fees.

## C. <u>Factual Background - The Board Revealed That Its Storm</u> Water Fees Are Far In Excess of the Costs of That Regulatory Program.

The facts giving rise to this litigation are based on the Board's own documentation, clearly demonstrating the Board's failure to comply with the Water Code in setting the subject "schedule of fees" in 2011, and its failure to conform its "fee"-setting practices to newly-adopted Proposition 26.

The Board's own staff issued a report publicly calling out the fact that for many years, the "fees" charged for the Board's Storm Water program had substantially exceeded the costs of providing that regulatory program, and that the excessive fee revenues collected had been internally transferred, year after year, to subsidize the costs of other Board regulatory programs. (See, SWRCB Revenue and Expenditures by Program (2011), JA 0220-0221 [a copy of which is attached as Appendix 1 to this Brief].) The Board's own documents showed that in every one of the seven (7) fiscal years leading up to the consideration of the challenged fee schedule in September 2011, the Board had collected substantially more revenues than it reported as "expenditures" for the Storm Water program. In fact, the net excess over the seven years since FY 2004-05 was reported as \$23,506,000. (Ibid.)

Implicit in the staff report was acknowledgement of the Supreme Court's recent restatement (in *Farm Bureau*) of the broad constitutional standards applicable to the Board's "regulatory fees." "What a fee cannot do is exceed the reasonable cost of regulation with the generated surplus used

for general revenue collection. An excessive fee that is used to generate general revenue becomes a <u>tax</u>." (51 Cal.4th 421, 438.)

The Board itself separately accounts for the revenues collected as "fees" and the costs of providing each of its eight (8) distinct programs, including the subject Storm Water program. (See, "Revenue and Expenditures by Program" at JA 0220-0221.) The Board's documents showed that "fees" collected substantially exceeded the "costs" of the Storm Water program, and confirmed that some excess Storm Water fee collections were accumulated in a "surplus reserve," and that other portions of the overcollections were improperly transferred to subsidize the costs of other regulatory programs (and to artificially reduce the fees charged to the distinct groups of permittees under those other programs), or were improperly applied to Board activities and expenses other than operation of its Storm Water Program:

Between FY 2004-05 and FY 2009-10, the Storm Water Program collected approximately \$22 million more in revenue than it incurred in expenditures. This amount contributed to the large reserve balances carried in the WDPF during these years. It also allowed the State Water Board to minimize fee increases during this time period. (SWRCB Staff Report at JA 0236.)

Similar observations on the transfer and mis-use of over-collected Storm Water fee revenues to subsidize other, distinct, programs were made by many public agencies objecting to the excessive fees, e.g. "It is established and agreed [by Board staff] that Storm Water fees have been set

at inappropriately high levels for many years and those excess fees have been used by the State to subsidize other water quality programs." (City of Mountain View, at JA 0289.)

### D. The Board Improperly Purported to Approve The New Schedule of Fees in September 2011.

The State Budget was eventually adopted during summer of 2011. (JA 00207.) The Board then scheduled a public hearing for September 19, 2011, for the consideration of a proposed new schedule of the Board's fees.

The Board's Staff Report (at JA 0232-0252) was not released until shortly before the September 19 hearing, including the text of the proposed new regulations and the proposed schedule of fees. Many complaints were voiced (by petitioner and by many public agencies, subject to the Storm Water fees) about the inadequacy of the "notice" provided by the Board.<sup>3</sup>

The Board's Staff Report (JA 0232-233) stated that the separate fees charged for all eight of the waste discharge regulatory programs would need to be increased substantially (over 30% for the Storm Water fees). The Board provided <u>no evidence</u> to the public or in the record to justify the basis of the "program costs" ostensibly driving the demand for the proposed stunning fee increases – and other than vague references to these changing State budget

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> E.g., JA 0305, letter dated 9/15/11 from Nevada County Sanitation District No. 1: "The District first received notice of these proposed rate increases three days ago. This is not adequate time to consider the impacts of a 60.6 percent fee increase."

policies. There was <u>no evidence</u> demonstrating the statutory "recoverable costs" of maintenance of regulatory activities under the Board's Storm Water Program, or any of its seven other programs. The Board also failed to provide the public with any <u>evidence</u> of the "reasonable costs" of actually conducting its various regulatory programs, much less any evidence demonstrating that the amount of the fees would not exceed the estimated reasonable costs of the regulatory activities for which they are ostensibly imposed, as required both by Section 13260 and by Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3(d).

The only evidence in the record was to the contrary, and was not specific to "program costs" but simply as to gross "expenditures." The Staff Report asserted that in FY 2010-11, "total expenditures" for all eight (8) of the distinct waste discharge regulatory programs had been \$73.3 million. Despite the Staff's assurance that there would be "no program growth" in the coming fiscal year, the Staff Report simply stated that "total expenditures are anticipated to be \$101.4 million." (JA 0232.)

Board staff did not even claim that its regulatory "costs" were increasing. To the contrary, Staff asserted only that these admittedly "very large" fee increases were the result of State budgetary shifts, and were not due to any improvement or expansion of Board regulatory programs or increasing levels of program activities.<sup>4</sup>

2644/030584-0002 8714397 2 a09/21/15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "There is no program growth. It is all either base revenue shortfall or general fund shifts of one form or another. I just want to make that clear on

The fact that the Board's regulatory programs were <u>not</u> expanding, combined with the Board's failure to claim or demonstrate that the costs of the regulatory programs were increasing by \$27 million more in 2011-12 than they had in the previous year strongly supports the inference, at least, that the new fee revenues to be collected under the new schedule of fees would continue to be in excess of either the statutory "recoverable costs" or the "reasonable" costs of the program activities – in violation of State law.

The Staff Report proposed a schedule of fees in which the fees for all eight of the Board's programs should increase by a cumulative average of 37.8% above the previous year. In light of the history of excess fee collections from the Storm Water Program, staff proposed that those fees should be increased by "only" 34.9% for FY 2011-12. (See, Staff Report, *Table 1* at JA 0233.)

In addition, as a possible alternative reflecting the Staff's acknowledgment of the Board's history of more than \$22 million over-collections of fees in the Storm Water program, the Staff Report also pointed out that it may be appropriate for the Board to consider a "option" which would reduce the rate of increase of the Storm Water fees to "just" a 20% increase above the prior fiscal year (rather than the proposed 34.9% increase)

the outset that, yes, it is a very large fee increase, but they are not tied to program growth." (Testimony of M. Burnett, of SWRCB's Division of Administrative Services, in the transcript of the 9/19/11 Board hearing, at page 4, lines 16-20, at JA 0326.)

(JA 0236.) This "Storm Water Fee Rebalance Option" made no mention of the Water Code provisions or any constitutional limitations on charges by State agencies that <u>required</u> the Board to make fee adjustments intended to provide "compensation for" previous over-collections of fees.

CBIA, along with many others, submitted written comments, objections, and testimony at the Board hearing.<sup>5</sup> CBIA, and many other commentators and public agencies urged the Board to adopt the "Storm Water Fee Rebalancing" adjustments to the proposed fee schedule as required by § 13260(f)(1) – and as suggested by the Board's own staff.

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