#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

CALIFORNIA BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD,

Defendant and Respondent.

Case No. S226753

SUPPLIEVE COURT

NOV 19 2015

Frank A. Nacional Clark

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A137680 San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. CGC-11-516510 The Honorable Curtis E. A. Karnow, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE BOARD'S FEE SCHEDULE COMPLIED WITH WATER CODE SECTION 13260
  - A. The Board's Fee Schedule Balanced Projected Fee Revenue with the Total Budgeted Cost of the Waste Discharge Permit Program

The Board's fee schedule for fiscal year 2011-12 complied with section 13260, because the total projected fee revenue was equal to the total

spending from the Fund that the budget act prescribed to help pay for the Board's administration of the entire waste discharge permit program. (§ 13260, subd. (f)(1).) The fee schedule was designed to generate \$100.7 million in fee revenue. (JA 239.) Together with \$602,000 in other revenue, the projected fee revenue closely corresponded to the prescribed spending of \$101.4 million from the Fund. (JA 239.) CBIA does not dispute that the total projected revenue from the 2011-12 fee schedule was equal to the total prescribed program spending from the Fund. There is also no evidence that the actual revenue generated from the fee schedule exceeded the prescribed amount of spending.

#### B. Section 13260 Does Not Require Fee Revenue from Each Program Area to Equal the Board's Spending for Each Program Area

CBIA contends that it is not enough for total projected fee revenue to equal the total budgeted spending for the entire waste discharge permit program, because, CBIA asserts, section 13260 also requires fees collected from storm water dischargers to equal the Board's cost of regulating those same storm water dischargers. (CBIA's brief, pp. 30-32.) The statute does not support that view. By its terms, section 13260 only requires the Board to collect a fee from "all persons" discharging or proposing to discharge waste that could affect the quality of the waters of the state. (§ 13260, subd. (d)(1)(A).) The section only requires the *total* revenue from that fee to equal the total amount necessary to recover the Board's costs relating to all waste discharges:

The total amount of annual fees collected pursuant to this section shall equal that amount necessary to recover costs incurred in connection with the issuance, administration, reviewing, monitoring, and enforcement of waste discharge requirements and waivers of waste discharge requirements.

(§ 13260, subd. (d)(1)(B), italics added; see also § 13260, subd. (e)(2)(A) [requiring all fees collected pursuant to § 13260 to be deposited in the Fund and used "solely for the purposes of carrying out this division"].)

Subdivision (f)(1) of section 13260 confirms that the Legislature intended only to require fees for the entire waste discharge permit program to equal spending for the entire program. Subdivision (f)(1) states that the "total revenue collected each year through annual fees shall be set at an amount equal to the revenue levels set forth in the Budget Act for this activity." The "total revenue collected" necessarily includes all the fees supporting the waste discharge program, because the budget act only makes one appropriation from the Fund for the entire program. (JA 123-124 [line item 3940-001-0193]; JA 209-210 [same line item].) The budget act does not make separate appropriations for each program area.

Further, while section 13260 recognizes that there are different kinds of dischargers—for example, it specifically mentions certain types of storm water dischargers (§ 13260, subd. (d)(2)(B)), confined animal facilities ( $\S$  13260, subd. (d)(1)(D)), and the national pollutant discharge elimination system ( $\S$  13260, subd. (d)(2)(B)(i))—the section only creates one waste discharge permit program. It does not even mention five of the eight categories of dischargers defined by the Board's program areas. And the section imposes only a limited set of requirements concerning fees from storm water dischargers, providing that fees collected from some (but not all) storm water dischargers must be separately accounted for in the Fund and prescribing how some (but not all) of those funds must be used. ( $\S$  13260, subd. (d)(2)(B) [imposing requirements that do not apply, for example, to fees paid by municipal storm water dischargers or storm water dischargers that are subject to individual national pollutant discharge elimination system permits].) If the Legislature intended section 13260 to limit the fees paid by storm water dischargers to the amount necessary to

help pay the Board's cost of regulating only those same storm water dischargers, the Legislature would have done so with language as specific as that contained in subdivision (d)(1)(B), which limits the total fees for the entire waste discharge permit program. The Legislature did not impose separate limits on fees associated with any of the eight program areas.

#### C. Section 13260 Does Not Require the Board to Adjust Its Fee Schedules to Compensate for Earlier Imbalances Within Particular Program Areas

CBIA argues that the 2011-12 fee schedule did not comply with section 13260 because it failed to compensate storm water dischargers for earlier years in which fees paid by storm water dischargers exceeded the Board's projections. (CBIA's brief, pp. 8, 14, 31.) But CBIA mistakenly relies on subdivision (f)(1) of section 13260, which refers only to "the revenue levels set forth in the Budget Act":

The state board shall automatically adjust the annual fees each fiscal year to conform with the revenue levels set forth in the Budget Act for this activity. If the state board determines that the revenue collected during the preceding year was greater than, or less than, the revenue levels set forth in the Budget Act, the state board may further adjust the annual fees to compensate for the over and under collection of revenue.

(§ 13260, subd. (f)(1), italics added.) Since there are no revenue levels set forth in the budget act for individual program areas, this provision only concerns the balance between the *total* fees collected and the amount necessary to help pay for the *entire* waste discharge permit program. Section 13260 does not require the Board to make adjustments within particular program areas.

Even if that provision could somehow be construed to apply to individual program areas, the provision states only that the Board "may" adjust the annual fees. (§ 13260, subd. (f)(1).) It does not require the Board to do so.

### II. THE BOARD'S FEE SCHEDULE DOES NOT VIOLATE PROPOSITION 13

A. Regulatory Fees Are Consistent with Proposition 13 if They Do Not Exceed the Reasonable Costs of the Regulatory Activity and Are Reasonably Allocated Among the Regulated Parties

CBIA never states whether its constitutional claim is based on Proposition 13, Proposition 26, or both. (See CBIA's brief, pp. 1-6, 20-24, 28-29, 32-34; JA 14-15; slip opn., p. 18, fn. 9.) But the relevant part of Proposition 26 only applies to a "change in state statute." (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3, subd. (a).) Since CBIA does not challenge any change in state statute, Proposition 26 does not apply. (See part III.B. below.) This argument will therefore focus on Proposition 13.

The relevant part of Proposition 13 required approval by a two-thirds majority of the Legislature for "any changes in State taxes enacted for the purpose of increasing revenues. . . ." (Former Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 3, added by initiative, Primary Elec. (June 6, 1978), commonly known as Prop. 13; amended by initiative, Gen. Elec. (November 2, 2010), commonly known as Prop. 26.) The measure was intended to restrict the state from attempting to make up for lost property tax revenue by increasing other taxes or creating new ones. (*Amador Valley Union High Sch. Dist. v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1978) 22 Cal.3d 208, 231.)

A regulatory fee is not a tax and is therefore not subject to Proposition 13's two-thirds requirement. (Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 428.) A regulatory fee is "charged to cover the reasonable cost of a service or program connected to a particular [regulatory] activity." (California Bldg. Industry Ass'n v. San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control Dist., supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at p. 131; cf. Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 874 [noting that different categories of fees may overlap].) Regulatory fees help advance the purposes of Proposition 13, because a

reasonable way to achieve effective tax relief is to shift the costs of a regulatory program from the taxpayers to the regulated parties. (Sinclair Paint, at p. 878, quoting San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. San Diego County Air Pollution Control Dist. (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 1132, 1148.)

The constitutionality of a regulatory fee depends on a two-pronged test concerning "(1) the estimated costs of the service or regulatory activity, and (2) the basis for determining the manner in which the costs are apportioned, so that charges allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable relationship to the payor's burdens on or benefits from the regulatory activity." (Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878, quoting San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. San Diego County Air Pollution Control Dist., supra, 203 Cal.App.3d at p. 1146; accord, Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 437.)

Under the first prong, a fee must not exceed the reasonable cost of the regulatory activity, with the resulting surplus being used for general revenue. (Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 438.) Under the second prong, the fee must be allocated among the regulated parties by a reasonable method. (Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878; see Farm Bureau, at p. 440.) The 2011-12 fee schedule satisfies both prongs.

- B. The Total Projected Revenue from the Waste Discharge Permit Fee in 2011-12 Was Not Excessive
  - 1. The Board designed the fee schedule to generate only the amount of revenue specified in the budget act

The Board designed its 2011-12 fee schedule to generate only the amount of revenue required by that year's budget act to help pay for the waste discharge permit program. (JA 232-233.) There is no evidence that the actual fee revenue exceeded the Board's projections. Even if that occurred, any surplus would remain in the Fund until being spent for the

waste discharge permit program; it could not be used for general revenue. (§ 13260, subd. (d)(2)(A).)

CBIA argues that fees under the 2011-12 fee schedule were excessive because the Board discussed a \$27 million increase in total program "expenditures" without any increase in program activities. (CBIA's brief, pp. 11-13.) CBIA's argument overlooks that the Board used the term "expenditures" to include only the Board's spending from the Fund. The budget act dictated that the Board would increase its spending from the Fund to offset cuts in the program's general fund subsidy. (JA 232-233, 325-326, 408-409 [discussing the impact of "general fund shifts"]; compare line items 3940-001-0001 and 3940-001-0193 in JA 208-219 with the same line items in JA 123-124.) If one considers both expenditures from the Fund and the program's general fund subsidy, total spending for the program did not change. (JA 232-233, 326.)

CBIA further contends that if program activities remained constant, the increased fees were "for the purpose of increasing revenues," contrary to the language of Proposition 13. (CBIA's brief, p. 33.) By definition, however, regulatory fees generate revenue necessary to pay for a regulatory program. (California Bldg. Industry Ass'n v. San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control Dist., supra, 178 Cal.App.4th at p. 131.) The relevant question is not whether the fee was intended to increase revenues, but whether the fee was intended to generate more revenue than necessary to help pay for the waste discharge permit program. (See Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 438 ["What a fee cannot do is exceed the reasonable cost of regulation with the generated surplus used for general revenue collection"].) Because there is no evidence that the fee schedule for 2011-12 was designed to generate more revenue than necessary to pay for the waste discharge permit program, CBIA's argument fails.

### 2. The so-called "storm water fee" does not require separate constitutional analysis

As with its argument regarding section 13260, CBIA rests its constitutional challenge largely on the premise that storm water dischargers are regulated by their own distinct program and pay their own distinct fee. (See, e.g., CBIA's brief, p. 29.) For the same reasons discussed in part I.B. above, that premise is wrong. The Board creates only one annual fee schedule under section 13260, and all eight categories of waste dischargers are regulated by the same permit program.

The rule is that a regulatory fee must not exceed the estimated costs of the relevant "regulatory activity." (Sinclair Paint, supra, 15 Cal.4th at p. 878; accord, Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 438 [the fee must "not exceed the reasonable cost of providing services necessary to regulate the activity for which the fee is charged," with the excess used for "unrelated revenue purposes"].) The Board's regulatory activity under section 13260 includes all eight program areas, because all of the program areas are components of the Board's broad duty to regulate parties who discharge waste that could affect the quality of California's waters. (See § 13260, subd. (a) [identifying those who are required to file reports of waste discharge].)

The program areas are administrative classifications that the Board has discretion to modify whenever the Board adopts a new fee schedule. (See § 13260, subds. (d)(1) & (f)(1) [requiring the Board to create an annual fee schedule but not specifying any particular method for allocating the fee among dischargers].) The Board could decide, for example, to absorb all storm water dischargers into other program areas. The Board could also revise the factors used to calculate the fee that each storm water discharger must pay, or it could create some entirely new approach for designing fee schedules that does not consider program areas at all. It

would be illogical to define a program's "regulatory activity" based on such discretionary administrative classifications. As the trial court correctly observed, Proposition 13 does not require "slicing and dicing the fees" based on how the Board chooses to classify the dischargers for administrative purposes. (JA 553.)

The correct approach for identifying a program's regulatory activity is illustrated by Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th 421, which concerned a fee imposed to help pay for the Board's regulation of water rights permits and licenses. (Id. at pp. 429-432.) One of the issues was whether Proposition 13 required the Board to charge the fee not only to permit and license holders, but also to those who held other kinds of water rights. (Farm Bureau, at pp. 440-442.) In addressing that issue, the court did not treat the different kinds of water rights as multiple programs or "regulatory activities." The court focused instead on whether the total amount of the fee was reasonably allocated among all the regulated parties. (Ibid.)

Also instructive is Collier v. City and County of San Francisco (2007) 151 Cal. App.4th 1326. In that case, the court found it constitutionally permissible for revenue from a local building permit fee to be shared among the local building department, fire department, and planning department, each of which participated in regulating the construction industry. (Id. at pp. 1340-1344.) Just as revenue from a regulatory fee may be shared by multiple departments serving a common regulatory objective, so too may revenue from a regulatory fee be shared by multiple program areas within a comprehensive regulatory program. The existence of separate departments or separate program areas does not mean that there are distinct regulatory activities for purposes of Proposition 13.

CBIA's misplaced efforts to change the constitutional analysis by characterizing the storm water program area as a distinct permit program are without merit.

- C. The Fee Is Reasonably Allocated Among the Regulated Parties
  - 1. The 2011-12 fee schedule reasonably allocated that year's fee based on anticipated revenues and budgeted spending for each program area

CBIA's arguments assume that the Board's method of allocating the fee was unconstitutional unless the fees actually paid by storm water dischargers did not exceed the actual cost of regulating storm water dischargers. That assumption is wrong. The issue is whether the fee schedule allocated the waste discharge permit fee by a reasonable method. (Farm Bureau, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 437.) That issue requires a qualitative assessment of how the Board allocated the fee among all eight program areas.

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